
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/SR.139

 
 

139th Plenary meeting 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  
the Sea, Volume XIV (Summary Records, Plenary, General Committee, First and Third 

Committees, as well as Documents of the Conference, Resumed Ninth Session) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



62 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

139th meeting
Wednesday, 27 August 1980, at 9.55 a.m.

President: Mr. H. S. AMERASINGHE

General debate (continued)

1. Mr. NUNEZ ARIAS (Dominican Republic) expressed con-
cern at the harmful consequences which could result from the ap-
plication of the provisions of articles 150 and 151. As a land-
based producer, for which nickel represented 11 per cent of its
export earnings, his country shared the views of such countries

as Canada, the Philippines, Zambia, Zaire, Zimbabwe and Nige-
ria, which had stressed the need to seek fair and appropriate solu-
tions in that matter.
2. His delegation found satisfactory the provisions in articles
74 and 83 on the delimitation of the exclusive economic zone
and the continental shelf. Similarly, his delegation supported the
present text of article 121 concerning islands.



139th meeting—27 August 1980 63

3. Lastly, his delegation supported the proposed provisions
which would establish a priority right for the State finding ob-
jects of archaeological or historical value on the continental
shelf or in the exclusive economic zone.
4. In conclusion, he expressed the hope that the work of the
Conference would be completed at its next session in 1981.
5. Mr. NAKAGAWA (Japan) said that the First Committee's
main achievement had been to devise new decision-making ma-
chinery for the Council. His delegation supported that new ma-
chinery and the allocation of various substantive items to each of
the categories in the three-tier system. In that connexion, he
stressed that any enlargement of the membership of the Council
would endanger the delicate balance upon which that formula
was based and urged the Conference to desist from attempting
such an enlargement.
6. The substantive changes in the text contained in document
A/CONF.62/C.l/L.28/Add.l represented a balanced compro-
mise but his delegation still had reservations on some of the is-
sues involved. First, on the subject of production limitation, it
did not believe that the 3 per cent floor was sufficient to attract
prospective contractors to deep-sea mining, especially at the ini-
tial stage of the interim period. As for the new provision in ar-
ticle 150, subparagraph (/) concerning the conditions of access to
markets, it was clearly an issue related to international trade and
should be left to some international agreement other than the
convention under discussion.
7. With regard to the transfer of technology, his delegation
found it difficult to endorse the provision concerning technology
owned by a third party; that system was un l i ke ly to work
smoothly and could have the effect of discouraging the active
participation of private enterprise in deep-sea mining. In addi-
tion, his delegation still regarded annex III , article 5, paragraph 3
(e), as unsuitable for inclusion in the convention.
8. With regard to financial arrangements, his delegation felt
that the figures of 2 per cent and 4 per cent for the production
charges imposed an unduly heavy burden on contractors. As to
the financing of the Enterprise, he reiterated his delegation's de-
sire that the amount of contributions should be specified in some
manner at the time of signing the convention.
9. Turning to the issues before the Second Committee, he said
that although his delegation was not fully satisfied with the de-
limitation cri teria proposed, it believed that the provisions
thereon should be retained in the third revision. His Government
supported Part III and in this connexion understood that no al-
teration of existing patterns of activity in and around Japan was
necessary or contemplated. Regarding article 63, his delegation
opposed any proposal which would result in the restriction of the
freedom of the high seas. It believed that any arrangement for the
conservation of stocks within and beyond the exclusive economic
zone should be based on the voluntary agreement of the parties
concerned.
10. With regard to article 65 on marine mammals, it was his
delegation's understanding that the measures regarding the con-
servation, management and study of cetaceans in the exclusive
economic zone would not necessarily be taken simultaneously
with regard to all the various stocks of cetaceans, but would be
taken on a stock-by-stock basis when such measures were found
to be desirable as a result of consultations among the States con-
cerned.
11. Despite some reservations, his delegation supported the in-
clusion in the third revision of the contents of the various reports
resulting from the current negotiations.
12. Mr. YIMER (Ethiopia) expressed satisfaction at the results
achieved during the present session. The end of the Conference
appeared to be in sight, largely because of the satisfactory results
achieved in the First Committee.
13. Perhaps the most controversial issue discussed in that Com-
mittee had been decision-making in the Council and his delega-
tion welcomed the breakthrough in the negotiations on that point.
It was convinced that success in that area would advance the
prospects of consensus on other still unresolved issues.

14. His delegation believed that the over-all package on First
Committee matters contained in the report of the co-ordinators of
the working group of 21 (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.28 and Add.l)
could go into the third revision, although some aspects of the
voting mechanism in the Council, in particular those relating to
consensus, might need re-examination.
15. Like the vast majority of the participants in the Conference,
he was seriously concerned about recent developments regarding
unilateral legislation on sea-bed mining. On that point, his dele-
gation fully subscribed to the position of the Group of 77 but
would nevertheless like to place on record its objection to such
unilateral acts, which were bound to hinder the progress of the
Conference.
16. Turning to Second Committee matters, he wished to single
out the still unresolved issue of delimitation of maritime bounda-
ries between States with adjacent or opposite coasts. His delega-
tion was satisfied with the criteria set forth in articles 74 and 83
in their original form and in the first revision of the negotiating
text. Although it still preferred those formulations, it could en-
dorse the reformulation contained in the second revision (A/
CONF.62/W.P. 10/Rev.2 and Corr.2-5). As to the settlement of
disputes relating to that issue, his delegation reiterated that it
could not accept the obligation to submit to a compulsory proce-
dure. His delegation could not imagine a comprehensive conven-
tion on the law of the sea without rules on criteria for delimita-
tion and it earnestly hoped that a generally acceptable formula
would be found as soon as possible.
17. With regard to matters before the Third Committee, which
had been the most successful of the committees, his delegation
felt that the extremely delicate compromise on Parts XII, XIII
and XIV should be maintained.
18. His delegation attached considerable significance to article
82 on payments and contributions with respect to the exploitation
of the continental shelf beyond 200 nautical miles. In its view,
the rates of contribution therein specified were much too low.
19. On the regime of islands and enclosed or semi-enclosed
seas, his delegation endorsed the provisions of articles 121 and
122, although it was still of the view that articles 122 and 123
were unnecessary. It was his understanding that article 123 on
the co-operation of States bordering enclosed or semi-enclosed
seas did not purport to impose strict legal obligations on those
States. Any other construction would be totally unacceptable to
his delegation.

20. He commended the exhaustive work of the informal ple-
nary conference on the set t lement of disputes (A/CONF.62/
L.59), final clauses (A/CONF.62/L.60) and general provisions
(A/CONF.62/L.58). In view of the controversial nature of certain
issues relating to the final clauses, it was gratifying to note that
consensus had been achieved on a number of points. He ex-
pressed support for the provision prohibiting reservations to the
convention with certain exceptions. An important convention like
the convention on the law of the sea should not be disturbed by
unbridled reservations.

21. On the question of the settlement of disputes, his delega-
tion supported the structure of Part X. As to the substance of the
matter, his delegation attached special significance to article 298,
in particular paragraph (a) ( i i ) , which provided that submission
of disputes to compulsory settlement procedure would take place
by mutual consent of the parties. His delegation also considered
article 298 bis a useful affirmation of the principle of settlement
of disputes by mutual consent.

22. In conclusion, he felt that the present session had been a
success and expressed the hope that the third revision would
serve as a basis for the conclusion of the work of the Conference.

23. Mrs. RODR1GUES (Mozambique) said that the Conference
constituted a step towards peace, since it was aimed at adopting a
legal instrument which entailed the total rejection of any action
based on force; it also heralded the implementation of a new or-
der to govern the oceans, guided by the principles of justice and
equity.



64 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

24. Following the proclamation of its independence, the Peo-
ple's Republic of Mozambique had declared a 12-mile territorial
sea and a 200-mile exclusive economic zone. The purpose of that
measure had been to protect the legitimate interests of her coun-
try's people, for whom the existing marine resources were im-
portant for national development and economic reconstruction.
Her country had nevertheless refrained from taking any measures
on a certain number of controversial issues in view of the negoti-
ations taking place at the present Conference.
25. The importance attached by Africa to the present stage of
the negotiations and to the future convention was well reflected
in the declaration adopted at Freetown (A/CONF.62/104) and in
other relevant declarations or resolutions by the Organization of
African Unity. One of the most important points in those declara-
tions was the rejection of any voting system in the Council based
on the principle of a veto, on collective voting or on weighted
voting. The most recent formula on voting procedure put forward
by the co-ordinators of the Group of 21 could possibly result in
inefficiency. The consensus formula in the new proposal could in
fact be extended in the future to issues other than those referred
to in article 161. paragraph 7 (</). For that reason, her delegation
could not endorse it and believed that the text should be im-
proved. Article 162 her delegation could endorse as a compro-
mise text.
26. The transfer of technology remained one of the conditions
for acceptance of the parallel system as a provisional arrange-
ment. The definition of technology should cover the technology
for processing minerals as well and there should be no time-limit
for the purpose of transfer.
27. The imposition of a moratorium would certainly make it
possible to accelerate the work of the review conference. She ac-
cordingly suggested that the Collegium should make provision
for a moratorium in the third revision.
28. It was essential that the system of exploration and exploita-
tion to be introduced should not widen the gap separating the in-
dustrialized from the developing countries. Accordingly, the ex-
ploration of the common heritage of mankind should not harm
land-based producers. A practical and fair system of compensa-
tion should not constitute a heavy burden on the revenues of the
Authority.
29. Turning to Second Committee matters, her delegation con-
sidered that in the exclusive economic zone the coastal State
should exercise sovereign rights over natural resources. Regard-
ing the important question of the limitation of maritime bounda-
ries, her delegation's position was that any delimitation should
be effected through negotiations. Although that matter would be
the subject of further discussions, she was convinced that the so-
lution should be found by applying principles of justice and eq-
uity. Accordingly, the equidistance or median line constituted
one of the methods conducive to equitable solutions.
30. Her delegation did not accept compulsory arbitration for
conflicts arising from delimitation. In its view, in all such cases
it was of the utmost importance that the parties should refrain
from taking any step which might jeopardize the negotiations.

31. As to Third Committee matters, her delegation regarded
marine scientific research as of paramount importance for man-
kind as a whole. However, it could not accept the idea of free-
dom of research on the continental shelf.
32. To sum up, her delegation considered the compromise texts
contained in documents A/CONF.62/C.1/L.28 and Add.l as a
substantial improvement for future negotiations. The outstanding
issues should be the subject of further discussion so that solutions
could be found for them.

33. In conclusion, she expressed the hope that the assurances
given by the United States regarding unilateral legislation would
be honoured and that other States would refrain from adopting
such legislation on the exploration and exploitation of the deep-
sea bed.
34. Mr. CALDEIRA MARQUES (Cape Verde) expressed the
hope that, within the shortest possible time, the Conference

would formulate a convention on the law of the sea for the whole
of the international community and not a series of small conven-
tions for a few countries alone. Clearly, the future convention
could not be perfect but it was better to have the convention that
was feasible in the present circumstances rather than nothing at
all or a series of mini-conventions.
35. His delegation had doubts regarding the soundness of the
solution embodied in article 161, paragraph 7 (</), because unfor-
tunately, when there was a conflict of interest, it was always dif-
ficult to arrive at a consensus. His delegation, however, hoped
that practice, based on good faith and a genuine political will to
ensure the progress of the Authority, would in due course pro-
vide just solutions which took into account the interests of the
developing countries and thereby allayed their fears.
36. With regard to the status of the exclusive economic zone,
his delegation hoped that there would no longer be any contradic-
tion between the relevant articles in Part V and those in Part XII
once the third revision was issued.
37. His delegation supported, as it had always done, the pro-
posal made by the delegation of Ecuador concerning oceanic ar-
chipelagos (C.2/Informal Meeting/47). It welcomed the endorse-
ment by the Conference of the principle of the protection of ar-
chaeological objects.
38. Referring to the whole package of delimitation criteria, in-
terim measures and settlement of disputes, his delegation consid-
ered that delimitation must obey objective and well-defined crite-
ria. It was, however, prepared to accept the compromise formula
contained in the second revision of the negotiating text.
39. With regard to the innocent passage of foreign warships
through the territorial sea. his delegation believed that such pas-
sage must be notified in advance to the coastal State, as indicated
by existing international practice.
40. On the question of the conservation of fish stocks under the
provisions of article 63. his delegation believed that those provi-
sions must be strengthened in every possible way in order to pre-
vent any uncontrolled and selfish depletion of stocks.
41. His delegation supported the Yugoslav proposal on the sub-
ject of straits (C.2/Informal Meeting/2/Rev.2) and the Romanian
proposal regarding article 70 (C.2/Informal Meeting/51).
42. He expressed the hope that duly recognized national libera-
tion movements would be permitted to become parties to the con-
vention.
43. Lastly, he wished to draw attention to the efforts being
made by the Portuguese-language countries to produce a Portu-
guese version of the informal composite negotiating text which
might in due course become an official document.
44. Mr. GOMEZ ROBLEDO (Mexico) welcomed the approval
by consensus of his delegation's proposal for the inclusion of a
clause relating to good faith and the abuse of rights. His delega-
tion had always believed in the need for such a clause in order to
balance the rights, powers and freedom accorded to the various
parties concerned under the convention. Another constructive in-
novation in the same chapter of general provisions was the intro-
duction of the concept of jus cogens as applied to the basic rule
of the common heritage of mankind embodied in article 136.
That position was irreversible and he could not conceive of its
being derogated from in any way or its being the subject of an
agreement to the contrary.
45. Turning to First Committee matters, he expressed the hope
that the parallel system of exploitation of the resources of the
Area would constitute the most appropriate means of ensuring for
humanity the optimum utilization and protection of its common
heritage. The review conference would provide an excellent op-
portunity of ascertaining whether that had been the case, and of
taking appropriate measures. Unfortunately, some unsatisfactory
provisions on the question of the transfer of technology included
in the text enabled contractors to evade their obligation of trans-
ferring technology whenever they had acquired it on onerous
terms. In addition, his delegation considered that the definition
of technology should include the processing stage.



139th meeting—27 August 1980 65

46. With regard to the final clauses, his delegation found satis-
factory the compromise texts proposed by the group of legal ex-
perts on final clauses and urged that they should be included in
the third revision.
47. While his delegation thus found adequate the draft articles
contained in documents FC/21/Rev. 1 and Add.l, it wished to put
forward some constructive suggestions. First, with regard to ar-
ticle 303. he urged that the reference to "exceptions" should be
dropped; there was no basis for treating exceptions as legally on
a par with reservations. The use of that term introduced an unnec-
essary element of confusion.
48. His delegation felt that although the prohibition of reserva-
tions constituted a limitation of the sovereignty of States, it was
necessary to assert the political will of those same States which,
precisely in the exercise of their sovereignty, wished to ensure
the uniformity of application, and universal observance, of the
new international law of the sea.
49. In the same context, his delegation regretted the deletion
from article 310 (on denunciation) of the original provision
which enabled States to become parties to the convention for a
minimum period of five years from its entry into force. It was his
delegation's belief that that type of provision would have at-
tracted a greater number of ratifications and accessions to the
convention.
50. On the question of the settlement of disputes, the maximum
concession acceptable to his delegation was the acceptance of
compulsory conciliation in respect of specific types of dispute.
His delegation therefore welcomed the rearrangement of Part
XV. with its threefold structure: first, voluntary procedures; sec-
ondly, compulsory dispute settlement procedures entailing a
binding decision; and thirdly, limitations and optional excep-
tions.

51. He now wished to turn to a matter which his delegation
considered of vital importance, namely the character of the text
that would emerge from the current session. That text was a body
of legal rules which constituted an important contribution to the
maintenance of peace, justice and progress in the world. In that
context, his delegation welcomed the fact that the negotiations
which had taken place, combined with the practice of an ever-
increasing number of States, had consolidated the existence and
content of the legal concept of the exclusive economic zone.

52. After its arduous and prolonged work over so many years,
the Conference could be considered as having completed all the
stages of negotiation specified in the 54th meeting of the Bureau.
His delegation accordingly believed that the third revision must
now be considered not as a "negotiating" text but rather as a
"negotiated" text, which was of a very different political charac-
ter. He was not so much concerned with the title to be given to
the document as with the fact that delegations and Governments
should acknowledge its negotiated character, except, of course,
for those provisions which were still to be negotiated at the next
session and which the plenary Conference should enumerate
clearly, in order to avoid any subsequent discussion of the sub-
ject.

53. The negotiated text contained a large number of compro-
mise formulae which represented a delicate balance. It should be
borne in mind that acceptable solutions had been found for cer-
tain topics which only three weeks before had seemed non-
negotiable. It was therefore appropriate to strengthen those solu-
tions rather than give the impression that they were still capable
of being changed with regard to substance.

54. His country reiterated its view that the United States legis-
lation of 28 June 1980 in the matter of licences for the unilateral
conduct of activities in the international area constituted a viola-
tion of international law because it contravened the principle of
the common heritage of mankind. He expressed regret at the fact
that such legislation should have been enacted precisely at a time
when it had the effect of exerting undesirable pressures upon the
Conference at the most critical stage of the negotiations.
55. Mr. PASQUIER (Nicaragua) said that he shared the views

of the many delegations which had strongly condemned all uni-
lateral measures for the appropriation of the sea-bed. The princi-
ple of the common heritage of mankind enshrined in General As-
sembly resolution 2749 (XXV) stemmed from the collective
international conscience. Moreover, in accordance with that prin-
ciple it was incumbent upon the developing countries to make ef-
forts to participate in oceanographic technology. In that context,
the convention should provide, as a corollary of international de-
mocracy, for the transfer of technology, for sc ient i f ic co-
operation and for the dissemination of the results of submarine
research. Oceanographic technology should be regarded as an in-
tegral part of the heritage of mankind, since it was capable of
bringing about a redistribution of economic power.
56. His delegation was satisfied with the proposed scheme for
the settlement of disputes; the system of compulsory conciliation
constituted a well-balanced solution.
57. With regard to the reservations clause (art. 303), his dele-
gation had made known its position at the appropriate time; it
wished to reaffirm at the present stage that, in its view, reserva-
tions could basically be prohibited only when all the parties were
in agreement on all questions. That assertion logically led to con-
sideration of the meaning and scope of consensus: for consensus
to be viable, it was necessary to start from the premise that the
present Conference should try not to consolidate allegedly estab-
lished positions, but rather to introduce a new order which would
benefit all countries in an equal manner.
58. His delegation was completely dissatisfied with the terms
of paragraph 1 of articles 74 and 83. Like the other sponsors of
document NG7/10/Rev.2, it believed that those provisions con-
tained irregularities of substance and of form. With regard to
substance, they were at variance with the opinions of the highest
legal authorities and with the relevant case-law. With regard 'o
form, they were not in order because they had been incorporated
in the second revision without having been genuinely negotiated.
For those reasons, his delegation could not support their inclu-
sion in the third revision simply in the form in which they stood
in the second revision. The paragraphs in question should be left
blank in the third revision because at the present stage they were
not the subject of consensus.
59. Lastly, international conscience recognized that peoples
constituted authentic subjects of contemporary international law.
Accordingly, his delegation supported the accession to the con-
vention of national liberation movements. It was natural for his
delegation to take that stand since its Government of national re-
construction had emerged precisely from such a movement.
60. Mr. AL-SUWEIDI (United Arab Emirates) thanked the
President and the chairmen of the main committees for their de-
voted efforts. Those efforts would result in a comprehensive con-
vention which would serve as the basis for a new international le-
gal order for the benefit of mankind as a whole and would
implement the principle of the common heritage of mankind en-
shrined in General Assembly resolution 2749 (XXV). That de-
velopment could be regarded as a major step forward in the pro-
gress of contemporary international law, the effects of which
would be felt both now and in the future.
61. With regard to the matters before the First Committee, his
delegation was gratified at the tangible progress achieved on a
number of thorny issues, progress which was bound to have posi-
tive effects. On the issue of the powers of the organs of the Au-
thority, he found that the present proposal gave unduly broad
powers to the Council. In his delegation's view, the new powers
to be conferred on the Council should not encroach upon the
competence of the Assembly. It was essential to strike a balance
between the powers of those two organs.
62. Despite those doubts, his delegation was nevertheless pre-
pared to support the proposed new system, which had been en-
dorsed by the Group of 77. It was prepared to leave article 140
as it stood, particularly the provision on special treatment in the
interests of developing countries, of Territories which had not yet
acceded to independence, and of other non-self-governing Terri-
tories within the meaning of General Assembly resolution 1514
(XV) and subsequent relevant resolutions.



66 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

63. On Second Committee matters, his delegation endorsed the
proposal contained in document C.2/Informal Meeting/58 to add
to article 21 a new subparagraph setting forth the right of the
coastal State to require prior authorization or notification before
the innocent passage of foreign warships through its territorial
sea. The same requirement would apply to all foreign nuclear-
powered ships and to ships carrying nuclear materials or dan-
gerous or potentially harmful cargoes.
64. Regarding the provisions on the continental shelf, the rep-
resentative of Iraq had already stated (135th meeting) the views
of the group of Arab States including the United Arab Emirates
and the objection of those States to any extension of a coastal
State's continental shelf beyond 200 miles. He expressed the
hope that negotiations on that subject would continue and that
they would result in a consensus.
65. On the delimitation question dealt with in articles 74 and
83 of the second revision, his delegation's position was made
clear in document NG7/2/Rev.2. He wished to endorse the argu-
ments already put forward by other sponsors of the proposal con-
tained in that document. At the same time, he believed that the
present text of those articles on delimitation—which were the
outcome of prolonged negotiations—provided the best available
basis on which to work towards a consensus.
66. In that connexion, he stressed the great improvement re-
sulting from the introduction into those articles of a reference to
international law—an improvement which would make it possi-
ble to strike a balance between the different views that had been
expressed on delimitation and on the criteria on which it must be
based. Accordingly, his delegation strongly urged that the refer-
ence to international law should be maintained in the third
revision.
67. The criteria for the delimitation of maritime boundaries be-
tween States with opposite or adjacent coasts, the question of in-
terim measures and the provisions on the settlement of disputes
constituted three interrelated questions which must be dealt with
as a single package. That point had been stressed by the Chair-
man of negotiating group 7 in his final report at the end of the
previous session.1 The proposals contained in document NG7/
2/Rev.2 on delimitation criteria, settlement of disputes and in-
terim measures, respectively, were in line with that approach.
68. The principle of equity—advocated by some as a criterion
for delimitation—could not be applied by itself. Disagreement
was bound to arise on the interpretation of such a criterion and
the parties concerned would have to resort to the settlement of
disputes procedure or to third-party determination in order to ap-
ply it.
69. He urged that in article 298 a reference should be intro-
duced to the right of every party to recourse to the procedures set
forth in Part XV, section 2, if conciliation attempts failed or if it
became clear that one of the parties refused conciliation. A pro-
vision of that kind would avoid the perpetuation of a dispute in
cases where one of the parties was unco-operative and in effect
rejected the application of the dispute-settlement procedures em-
bodied in the convention.
70. His delegation also endorsed the suggestion tha t the
dispute-settlement procedures should apply to all disputes and
not only to those arising after the entry into force of the conven-
tion.
71. The consultations which had taken place on so many issues
among regional groups and the Group of 77 had produced con-
structive results on important questions. He sincerely hoped that
those negotiations would lead to a consensus and produce the
necessary improvements in the provisions of the second/revision.
72. He expressed his appreciation of the President's strenuous
efforts with regard to the final clauses, the general provisions and
the provisions on the settlement of disputes. He supported the

1 Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law
of the Sea, vol. XIII (United Nations publication. Sales No. E81.V.5.) ,
document A/Conf. 62/L.47.

suggested articles on those questions, articles which were th<
outcome of fruitful co-operation among all the participants con
cerned.
73. That being said, he wished to stress that it was absolutel)
essential to redraft article 300 of the second revision in such ;
manner as to specify the right of liberation movements, espe-
cially the Palestine Liberation Organization.'to accede to the con-
vention pursuant to article 140.
74. Mr. FREER-JIMENEZ (Costa Rica) welcomed the incor
poration into the negotiating text of the provisions concerning the
principle of the utilization of the sea for peaceful purposes which
had been sponsored by his delegation, together with those ol
Peru and other countries. Similarly, he welcomed the incorpora-
tion of the principle of good faith with regard to the performance
of rights and obligations under the convention, and the recogni-
tion of the jus cogens character of the rules governing the com-
mon heritage of mankind. His delegation considered all those
principles as basic and as constituting cornerstones of the new
law of the sea.
75. With regard to the final clauses, Costa Rica—which was a
party to three of the Geneva Conventions of 1958 on the law of
the sea—had reservations regarding the text of article 305: his
delegation could not accept the idea that, in respect of States
which did not ratify the present convention, the 1958 Conven-
tions should apply, regardless of the fact that the legal regime
which now governed the territorial sea, the economic zone and
the continental shelf formed part of customary international law
and was already binding upon all States, regardless of whether or
not they were parties to the 1958 Convention or to the present
convention.
76. Turning to First Committee matters, his delegation consid-
ered that the text submitted by the co-ordinators for Part XI and
annexes HI and IV provided the best possible basis for reaching a
consensus. Although his delegation could suggest certain im-
provements, it preferred to support that text because it realized
that it was the result of difficult negotiations.
77. With regard to Second Committee matters, his delegation
had been glad to sponsor an amendment to article 63 (C.2/
Informal Meeting/54/Rev, 1). It was not the intention of the
coastal States to extend their jurisdiction beyond 200 miles—as
they had sometimes been wrongly accused of doing—but those
States were concerned about overfishing in the adjacent areas of
the high seas, a practice which was harmful to the interests of all
States whose nationals fished in those areas. The provision in
question was simply an application of the principle already em-
bodied in article 117, which imposed upon States the obligation
to adopt measures for the conservation of the living resources of
the high seas.

78. The fact that it had not been possible to reach a consensus
on the question of the delimitation of maritime boundaries of
States with opposite or adjacent coasts should be a matter of se-
rious concern for the international community. It was essential to
devise a text based on clearly defined and objective criteria. In
his view, the concept of equity should serve to correct the defects
of unfair delimitation which might result from the application of
other principles, but that equity could not constitute the only—or
the main—criterion of delimitation because, by its very nature,
equity was a purely formal principle which must be associated
with other geographical elements in order to yield a practical so-
lution. So long, however, as no better formula could be found,
his delegation would continue to support the wording suggested
by the Chairman of negotiating group 7 for articles 74 and 83.
79. He welcomed the completion of the work of the Third
Committee and expressed the hope that with a few draft ing
changes the provisions produced by that Committee could be in-
corporated in the third revision.
80. Mr. NANDAN (Fiji) said that the negotiations held
throughout the past years had established that the international
community was concerned just as much with the problems of big
States as with the problems of small States, States with extensive



139th meeting—27 August 1980 67

coastlines, transit States, States with navigational interests, land-
based mineral producers and prospective sea-bed miners. The
emerging draft treaty showed that every interest had been taken
into account, if not ful ly satisfied.
81. His delegation welcomed the fact that the integrity of the
legal regime of islands, which was of particular interest to the
countries of the South Pacific region, had been largely main-
tained. The integrity of oceanic islands had not been subordi-
nated to the problems of islands having a special situation that
might have some bearing on the question of de l imi ta t ion of
boundaries.
82. His delegation was pleased that the Conference had finally
accepted the concept of archipelagic States—a concept which
until now had been denied its legitimate place in international
law. The entrenchment of that concept in the draft convention re-
flected appreciation of the fact that groups of oceanic islands had
an important economic, social and political interrelationship with
the waters that surrounded them. His Government had already
given legal force to that concept by enacting laws which were
consistent with the negotiating text before the Conference.
83. Turning to the work done during the current session, he ob-
served that the session had been one of the most productive. The
First Committee had resolved the difficult question of decision-
making in the Council of the Authority. The new compromise
proposal on the question of voting in the Council contained in ar-
ticle 171. paragraph 7, appeared to enjoy widespread support.
The three-tier voting system was an interesting innovation. The
proposal that, in the highest tier, decisions should be adopted by
consensus offered the only possible compromise solution.
84. Some delegations had criticized the consensus procedure as
equivalent to a veto system. He did not believe that criticism to
be justified. The traditional veto was a system of voting in which
power was given to a few nations to defeat any substantive pro-
posal by casting a negative vote. The consensus procedure was
completely different: it envisaged no voting and was based upon
a philosophy deeply rooted in many cultures in the third world,
such as those of the Indian sub-continent, Indonesia and the
South Pacific. Under that philisophy. people were encouraged to
take account of one another's views and interests and to accom
modate one another's needs. In his own country and in the South
Pacific, it was called the "Pacific way".
85. In the Second Committee, the texts produced at the pre-
vious session had been further consolidated and the only im-
provements still possible would be in the articles dealing with de-
limitation of boundaries, provided, of course, that there was
genera! agreement, especially among the parties most concerned.
86. The texts produced by the Third Committee also contained
further improvements.
87. Important progress had also been achieved with regard to
the final clauses, general provisions and settlement of disputes.
While his delegation could endorse the outcome of the negotia-
tions on those matters, it found the requirement of 60 ratifica-
tions to bring the convention into force undesirable if the new re-
gime of the oceans was to enter into force as soon as possible.
That new order had taken over 10 years to negotiate and its entry
into force should not be unduly delayed.
88. Notwithstanding those observations, his delegation sup-
ported the inclusion in the third revision of all the improvements
proposed by the chairmen and co-ordinators. Furthermore, in or-
der to mark the important progress made at the present session,
his delegation urged that the new text should be styled "draft
convention" with a footnote to indicate that it remained an infor-
mal text.
89. He now wished to turn to an important matter which the
Conference had not yet discussed or resolved: that of the site of
the headquarters of the International Sea-Bed Authority. He
wished to reiterate his Government's offer to provide headquar-
ters facilities for the Authority in Fiji, which was close to the
area in which most sea-bed mining would take place. At the pre-
vious session, it had been agreed that the Conference would de-

cide on that matter by a vote at the appropriate time. Now that
most of the substantive questions before the Conference were
Hearing conclusion, his delegation would be pleased to know
when the Conference would take up that matter.
90. Lastly, he wished to draw attention to the proposals made
by his delegation and a number of other delegations for the pur-
pose of enabling certain countries in the South Pacific, which
had become self-governing under United Nations auspices and
had considerable maritime zones, to become parties to the new
convention.
91. Mr. BACH BAOUAB (Tunisia) said that his delegation
welcomed the interest shown in the needs of the developing
countries, which should be taken fully into account.
92. Despite the difficult issues before it. the First Committee
had produced constructive results in reconciling divergent inter-
ests in a way that satisfied most parties. His delegation wished to
comment on some of the articles dealt with in the report of the
co-ordinators of the working group of 21 to the First Committee
so that its comments could be taken into account by the Colle-
gium in taking a final decision on the amendments to be intro-
duced into the third revision.
93. It would have been preferable to group all the provisions
under which questions were to be decided by consensus in article
161, paragraph 7, rather than to single out only three such provi-
sions. It seemed doubtful whether the consensus system was
ideal for the administration and exploitation of the common heri-
tage of mankind.
94. With regard to article 162. paragraph 2 (/)• his delegation
would find it difficult to accept any proposal that gave a greater
measure of competence to the Council than to the Assembly. He
therefore urged that the additions to that paragraph and other rel-
evant paragraphs should be deleted or amended so that they
could not be interpreted in that way.
95. In connexion with annex III. he referred to the decisions
taken by the Organization of African Unity ai Freetown (see A/
CONF.62/104) and emphasized the need for clear provisions on
the transfer of technology. Steps should be taken to prevent any
contractor from shirking his responsibilities in that respect on the
pretext that such transfer would be too costly. The transfer of
technology, which should apply to all phases of mineral extrac-
tion, particularly processing, was a sine qua non for the accept-
ance of a bilateral system. The additional funds should be made
available to enable the activities concerned to be undertaken im-
mediately upon the entry into force of the convention.
96. The Second Committee had made no new proposals during
the session. It was regrettable that no negotiations had taken
place with regard to the continental shelf and its extension be-
yond the 200-mile limit. His delegation wished to renew its pro-
posal for the holding of such negotiations.
97. It welcomed the generally-acceptable solutions that had
been reached, sometimes by consensus, during informal negotia-
tions on the settlement of disputes, final clauses and general pro-
visions, and could agree that the provisions agreed on should be
included in the third revision. Referring to the discussions that
had taken place concerning the jus cogens rule, he said that the
principle of the common heritage of mankind was a rule of inter-
national law and should therefore be incorporated both in the
convention and in unilateral legislation on the exploitation of the
Area.
98. On the question of the final clauses, it was regrettable that
no final decision had been taken concerning the accession of lib-
eration movements. That question should receive early attention
to enable peoples subjected to domination to exercise their right
to participate in the common heritage of mankind, as they would
have been able to do if they had not been subjected to illegal
domination.
99. In view of the progress that had been made, consideration
should now be given to methods of application with a view to
early entry into force. The United Nations and its Secretariat
would have a predominant role to play in that connexion. The at-



Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

tention of the General Assembly should be drawn to the impor-
tance of that issue so that the relevant services could be provided
to the developing countries.
100. Mr. GUEHI (Ivory Coast) said that the results achieved at
the current session offered improved prospects of consensus and
the conclusion of the draft convention had been brought closer.
His delegation, which had attended the Conference from its in-
ception, attached great importance to the work of the Conference
as a means of contributing to a new. more just and more equita-
ble international economic order. The Conference's results dur-
ing the past few years had been constructive and were being em-
bodied in the domestic legislation of most participating States.
The 12-mile limit for the territorial sea and the 200-mile limit for
the exclusive economic zone were incorporated in the domestic
legislation of the Ivory Coast.
101. His country viewed the law of the sea as a factor of devel-
opment in all possible fields. The work on final clauses, general
provisions and settlement of disputes carried out in the informal
plenary conference should be reflected in the third revision. The
results were encouraging and formed a sound basis for negotia-
tion. His delegation, however, had difficulties with some provi-
sions in the text drawn up by the co-ordinators of the First Com-
mittee, difficulties which should be ironed out at a later stage.
First, in connexion with the review conference, his delegation
opposed the elimination of the moratorium, which should be re-
instated in the third revision. Secondly, the provision on the
transfer of technology was unsatisfactory in its present form.
Such transfer should concern not only mining technology but
also technology for transport, treatment and processing. It must
be an integrated operation of unlimited duration. Thirdly, the
protection of land-based producers against market infiltration by
minerals from the Area was of major importance. A superprofit
tax system applicable to contractors should be devised to com-
pensate for the losses suffered by land-based producers as a
result of marine production. A distinction should be drawn in
that respect between developing-country producers and
industrialized-country producers.with a view to applying a fair
system of compensation. Article 151. paragraph 4, should be re-
vised to take that suggestion into account.
102. Fourthly, on the question of decision-making by the
Council, the consensus procedure provided for in article 161,
paragraph 7 (e), was disturbing. In accordance with the resolution
adopted by the Organization of African Unity, at Freetown, his
delegation wished to reiterate its disagreement with the veto sys-
tem. The consensus method introduced into the decision-making
process was nothing but a disguised veto and could render the
Council ineffectual. The prescribed majority procedure therefore
appeared to be the best solution.
103. As far as the work of the Second Committee was con-
cerned, the delimitation of the maritime boundaries of States
with adjacent or opposite coasts should be agreed between the
parties and should be based on the principle of equity, taking ac-
count of all the relevant factors. His delegation was convinced
that that principle was in the common interest of all who wished
to have matters settled equitably without sacrificing their individ-
ual interests.
104. On Third Committee matters, his delegation welcomed
the fact that the basic negotiations had been completed.
105. His delegation urged States to refrain from adopting uni-
lateral legislation, in order to avoid jeopardizing the convention.
It was confident that the reassuring words spoken by some dele-
gations on the subject would have equally reassuring effects for
the international community.

Mr. Arias Schreiber (Peru), Vice-President, took the Chair.

106. Mr. PAPADOPOULOS (Cyprus) said that his Govern-
ment remained firmly committed to the goal of restructuring the
law of the sea and exploiting the common heritage of mankind
for the benefit of all; the first step towards the goal had been
taken in 1967. As an island State. Cyprus was particularly sensi-
tive to the regime of islands and enclosed or semi-enclosed seas.

Whereas the article on the regime of islands offered a minimum
solution acceptable to his delegation, the inclusion in the second
revision of the negotiating text of the article on enclosed or semi-
enclosed seas raised some problems, and his delegation would
like Part IX to be deleted from the text for reasons already ex-
plained.
107. His delegation welcomed the progress achieved during the
current session and, in particular, the developments which had
led to the consensus on First Committee matters, as reflected in
the package of amendments (A/CONF.62/C.I/L.28 and Add.l).
The agreement reached in that respect had served as a catalyst for
other hard-core issues before the Conference. All who had
worked to bring about that agreement had shown admirable polit-
ical will, wisdom and courage. His delegation would support the
inclusion of the package in the third revision.
108. It also viewed the proposed text for the third revision as a
satisfactory compromise as far as Third Committee matters
were concerned. It found the general provisions largely accept-
able and welcomed, in particular, the acceptance by the Confer-
ence of the Greek proposal concerning archaeological and histor-
ical objects. The provisions on final clauses (A/CONF.62/L.60)
were also largely acceptable to his delegation.
109. It did not. in principle, favour any exceptions or reserva-
tions, and believed that they should be kept to a minimum and
enumerated in the convention. It agreed with the main thrust of
article 303, but would like to see the word "exceptions" deleted.
110. In the light of the explanation given in paragraphs 9 and
10 of document FC/21/Rev.l , his delegation considered that
some confusion would be dispelled if exceptions were placed in
article 304, as proposed by the representative of Colombia. Ar-
ticle 305 was acceptable as it stood and should be included in the
final text.

1 1 1 . His delegation attached considerable importance to the
question of the delimitation of the maritime zones between States
with opposite or adjacent coasts, and associated itself with other
delegations which considered that the existing text of the third
revision offered substantially improved prospects of consensus.
Its merit lay in the fact that it had for the first time brought to-
gether the two opposing groups, which had conducted their con-
sultations on the basis of that text with a view to reconciling their
divergent views. That development reflected a desire on both
sides for a viable compromise that would command wide-ranging
support. While a new consensus might emerge at the next ses-
sion, the third revision meanwhile remained the text of the Con-
ference. He emphasized the close connexion between delimita-
tion criteria, interim measures and settlement of disputes. His
delegation's final position on the subject would depend on the
package deal agreed on those matters; its consistent position on
settlement of disputes had favoured compulsory third-party adju-
dication, entailing a binding decision not only on delimitation
matters but also on all other disputes arising from the interpreta-
tion or application of the convention.
112. Mr. ENKHSA1KHAN (Mongolia) welcomed the recent
progress towards the formulation and adoption by consensus of a
comprehensive convention. The package that had emerged had
been the result of intensive negotiations held among delegations
in a spirit of political will, compromise and mutual accommoda-
tion.
113. The new three-tier approach to decision-making, proposed
by the First Committee, was a compromise that could not claim
to give full satisfaction to all delegations. It nevertheless repre-
sented a constructive step towards a solution to the important is-
sue of decision-making procedures by excluding the possibility
of unilateral advantage for certain groups of States in the Coun-
cil, or of discrimination against groups representing different
socio-economic systems and geographical regional groups. His
delegation could endorse the formula contained in article 161,
paragraph 7, for incorporation in the new revision.
114. It should be borne in mind that the formula had not been
presented in isolation but as part of an over-all package compris-



139th meeting—27 August 1980 69

ing other important mini-packages on such matters as the compo-
sition and competence of the Council, the system of exploration
and exploitation of the Area, the production policies of the Au-
thority and the financial arrangements. The entire package should
be preserved as an organic unit, since any attempt to alter any of
its elements would reopen issues, disturb the balance and destroy
the package. His delegation could not support the view of some
States that the agreed composition of the Council should be al-
tered.

115. If other delegations could support all the other component
elements of the First Committee package, his delegation could
too, although it would have preferred to see some improvements
in annex III, and specifically in articles 5, 6 and 1 on the transfer
of technology and the anti-monopoly clause.

116. Second Committee matters as a whole raised no major dif-
ficulties for his delegation. Most of the vital issues had been suc-
cessfully negotiated and an equitable solution had been found for
them. As a land-locked country, however, Mongolia had some
difficulties with some provisions of the convention relating to the
rights of land-locked and geographically-disadvantaged States to
the living resources of the exclusive economic zone of coastal
States. It would have liked to see some improvements in certain
articles of the present text to take account of the legitimate rights
of land-locked and geographically-disadvantaged States, particu-
larly in view of the fact that a large part of the high seas to be
known as the exclusive economic zone was to be subject to a
specific legal regime heavily favouring some coastal States. In a
spirit of compromise, however, his delegation would refrain
from pressing for the reopening of the debate on the present pro-
visions of the negotiating text, despite their imperfections. It ex-
pected other delegations to exercise similar self-restraint.
117. His delegation was strongly opposed to the attempts of
some coastal States to extend their jurisdiction into the high seas
on various pretexts, thus infringing the freedom of the high seas.
It viewed such action as an attempt to change the balance of the
fair and fragile compromise that had been painstakingly negoti-
ated over the past years. It had a similar objection to the attempt
of some coastal States to amend the agreed text of article 21, par-
agraph 1, on the laws and regulations of coastal States relating to
innocent passage for all vessels. Any attempt to alter that text
would set the Conference back many years and lead to unneces-
sary dissension.
118. On Third Committee matters, his delegation had noted
with satisfaction the successful conclusion of the negotiations on
Parts XII, XIII and XIV of the second revision.
119. His delegation could endorse the final provisions as a
whole. It welcomed the fact that the overwhelming majority of
delegations were against the idea of reservations except for those
explicitly allowed by the convention itself. That was one of the
major achievements of the session, since reservations would be
contrary to the two main principles on which the convention was
to be based: consensus and the package deal. His delegation
would have no objection to the inclusion in the new revision of
the proposed package that had emerged during the current ses-
sion.
120. His delegation fully supported the statements made by the
developing and socialist States against illegal unilateral legisla-
tion adopted by certain States in breach of the fundamental prin-
ciple of the common heritage of mankind proclaimed by the Gen-
eral Assembly in resolution 2749 (XXV) . It hoped that the
impetus given to the Conference at its ninth session would lead
to the early adoption of a comprehensive convention that could
contribute to the maintenance and strengthening of international
peace and security, the establishment of a new international eco-
nomic order and justice for all.
121. Mr. DEMBELE (Mali), referring to article 69 concerning
the rights of land-locked States in the exclusive economic zone,
said that those States should have the right to participate on an
equitable basis in the exploitation of the biological resources of
the exclusive economic zone, and not on the basis of an appro-
priate part of the surplus.

122. As far as the problem of delimitation was concerned, his
delegation would have been satisfied with any solution that might
have been found by a group established for the purpose. Since no
such solution had been found, however, it maintained its support
for the principle of equity. It consequently found it impossible to
support the wording of articles 74 and 83 in the second revision.
Nor could it support the vague definition of the continental shelf
given in article 76, which it viewed with deep concern. It did not
consider that efforts to reach a compromise on that question had
been exhausted.

123. The problem of payments and contributions with respect
to the exploitation of the continental shelf beyond 200 nautical
miles (art. 82) could be solved satisfactorily only when a reason-
able solution to the question of the continental shelf had been
found. His delegation hoped that the idea of a common heritage
fund would be favourably received and would be included in the
convention.

124. Part X on the right of access of land-locked States to and
from the sea and freedom of transit remained a most vital ques-
tion for his delegation. While its provisions were not entirely sat-
isfactory, any attempt to amend the present provisions would
influence his country's attitude to the future convention.

125. His delegation was concerned about several points in doc-
ument A/CONF.62/Cl/L.28/Add.l, which embodied the results
of the negotiations that had just been held. First, article 151 did
not favour land-based developing-country producers. Negotia-
tions on that point were required. Secondly, the moratorium re-
quested by a large number of developing countries had been
completely disregarded in article 155 concerning the review con-
ference. Thirdly, in article 161 concerning decision-making by
the Council, the three-fourths majority had been extended to all
key questions. That approach was unsatisfactory to his delega-
tion. Lastly, annex III, article 5, concerning the transfer of tech-
nology failed to take account of the concern of the developing
countries for the inclusion of the extraction, transport and proces-
sing of minerals and training of personnel.
126. His delegation welcomed the progress made in the work
of the Third Committee. That work could, however, have been
further enhanced by a slight improvement in favour of the land-
locked countries in article 254.

127. At the first part of the session his delegation had ex-
pressed concern about the provisions of annex II, article 2, para-
graph 5, concerning the Commission on the Limits of the Conti-
nental Shelf;2 those provisions systematically excluded the
land-locked and developing countries from the Commission.

128. Mr. ANOONI (Albania) said that the main concern of the
Conference on drafting the new convention on the law of the sea
was to include clear and unequivocal legal standards to safeguard
the rights and interests of sovereign States, particularly with re-
gard to questions directly connected with their independence and
national sovereignty. One such question was that of delimitation
of territorial waters and the regime governing such waters. That
was a sovereign right of States, and his delegation supported the
view that each coastal State had the right to delimit its own terri-
torial waters up to a reasonable width, according to the particular
geographical, biological, social and economic conditions, and
taking acccount of national sovereignty, its economic interests,
the interests of other coastal States and international navigation.

129. Another question for which no just or equitable solution
had been found in the second revision of the negotiating text was
that of innocent passage. His delegation was certainly not op-
posed to the principle of free navigation in territorial waters and
in straits by merchant ships when it took place in conformity
with the legislation and regulations in force in the coastal State
and when it did not prejudice the national sovereignty of that
State. To extend the application of that concept to warships,
however, would constitute a flagrant violation of the well-known
principle of international law which recognized the full sover-

2Ibid., 128th meeting.



70 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

eignty of coastal States over territorial waters and the superjacent
airspace. It was essential for the new convention to make a clear
distinction between merchant ships and warships, with an ex-
press provision to the effect that the passage of warships in the
territorial waters of coastal States could take place only after
prior authorization and in strict compliance with the laws and
regulations of the coastal State.
130. His delegation maintained the view that the regime of en-
closed or semi-enclosed seas and of straits linking such seas to-
gether or with other seas or oceans should be established by
coastal States without any discrimination or limitation for peace-
ful countries. On the basis of that position of principle, which
had been favourably received by the majority of States participat-
ing in the Conference, his delegation was opposed to any amend-
ment of article 36 as it appeared in the text. There could be no
automatic right of free passage for all ships or aircraft through
straits leading to enclosed or semi-enclosed seas, which were
seas of destination and as such could not be used for transit pur-
poses. That was an unquestionable principle recognized in inter-
national maritime law. To seek to draw a parallel between en-
closed and semi-enclosed areas, on the one hand, and the high
seas, on the other, would be to reverse a principle of international
maritime law. Questions relating to the regime of enclosed and
semi-enclosed seas, and to passage through straits leading to
such seas, should be solved through negotiations between the
coastal States concerned; that view too had received substantial
support in the Conference. His delegation also supported the Ro-
manian proposal with regard to article 70 (C.2/Informal Meeting/
51).
131. Article 303 violated the sovereign rights of States and was
therefore inadmissible. His delegation strongly supported the
principle of reservations as providing a safeguard for the national
interests of all States parties.
132. His delegation also had reservations with respect to Part
XV, section 2, which based all procedures on obligatory jurisdic-
tion; that constituted a limitation of the sovereign rights of
States. It was essential to have the agreement of all parties to any
dispute in order to bring that dispute before a court or to arbitra-
tion.
133. With regard to First Committee matters, some of the ar-
ticles as worded in the second revision failed to provide a guar-
antee of equal rights for all States. His delegation supported the
just demands of the overwhelming majority of developing coun-
tries with regard to questions relating to the competence and op-
eration of the Council and the Enterprise, voting rights, the pro-
duction and sale of commodities and other maritime products,
the transfer of technology, etc. It was opposed to any manoeu-
vres by industrialized countries, particularly the major Powers,
designed to secure privileged positions for themselves. A typical
example was the unilateral legislation recently promulgated by
the United States and designed to promote United States industry
in the exploitation of deep-sea mineral resources. His delegation
strongly condemned that act by the United States Government,
which not only sought to seize wealth that belonged to mankind
as a whole, but also gave proof that it did not hesitate to violate
universally-accepted international norms in order to secure its
imperialist ends. He wished to reiterate that the new convention
must establish equal rights for all States, taking account first and
foremost of the interests of their independent economic and polit-
ical development.
134. Mr. RATTRAY (Jamaica) said that an assessment of the
work of the Conference could not simply be made in terms of na-
tional interest. The search for global agreement had been charac-
terized by the sacrifice of a measure of nationalism to interna-
tionalism. That had been a painful process particularly for
developing countries, but it was often essential for idealism to
come to terms with reality. It was impossible to solve all the
problems of future generations; the present challenge was to
make a good beginning.
135. In evaluating the second revision of the negotiating text
and the results of the negotiations that had been conducted, it

was essential to bear in mind that the mandate of the Conference
was to produce a comprehensive convention on all issues con-
cerning the law ot the sea, taking into account their interrelated
nature and the need to arrive at an acceptable package of pro-
posals. It was necessary, in the search for general agreement, to
determine the acceptability of the package as a whole, rather than
to pass punctilious judgement on its individual constituent ele-
ments.
136. With regard to the First Committee package, and in par-
ticular the proposals in the report of the co-ordinators of the
working group of 21, debits should be balanced against credits.
On the credit side, there had been considerable improvement in
the provisions regarding transfer of technology, particularly in
annex III, article 5, paragraph 3 (c), which related to the under-
taking by the operator to acquire a legally binding and enforce-
able right to transfer third-party technology to the Enterprise, and
annex III, article 5, paragraph 7, regarding the period during
which the obligation to transfer technology might be invoked. It
was still necessary to ensure that the guarantees in respect of the
transfer of technology would be adequate to serve the basic pur-
pose of promoting a viable Enterprise on a continuing basis as an
essential element of the parallel system.
137. A further point on the credit side was the recognition that
the concept of the benefit of mankind as a whole must extend to
the peoples who had not yet obtained independence or other self-
governing status, as provided for in article 140.
138. The three-tier approach to the decision-making mecha-
nisms of the Council was an attempt to reconcile the principle of
the sovereign equality of all States with the reality of interests to
be accommodated in matters affected by decisions of the Coun-
cil. While it was possible to disagree with the internal allocation
of some subjects to certain categories, the will of the interna-
tional community to liberate itself from domination by the pow-
erful had indisputably been asserted.
139. There were benefits and drawbacks in the streamlined par-
allel system. On the one hand, the right of access of qualified ap-
plicants was now largely automatic, and subject only to produc-
tion authorization. On the other hand, the Enterprise was yet to
be fully guaranteed the resources necessary to exploit its first
mine site. The surest guarantee would be that of extensive ratifi-
cation, particularly by the industrialized countries, which would
be the major contributors. The problem of a possible shortfall
posed a real threat to the implementation of the parallel system.
The fact that the solution of the problem was to depend on a con-
sensus decision of the Assembly might be an unnecessarily high
price to pay for a system that was based on the assumption that
the operations of the Enterprise would begin at the same time as
those of States and State-sponsored entities. The appropriateness
of the consensus regime should be re-examined at the next ses-
sion.
140. In keeping with the decision of the Group of 77, his dele-
gation would have no objection to the incorporation of the pack-
age proposals of the working group of 21 in the third revision of
the text.
141. With regard to the work of the Second Committee, the
concept of an exclusive economic zone was possibly the most
important development in the law of the sea relating to the limits
of national jurisdiction since the 1945 Truman declaration on the
continental shelf. His delegation had participated actively in the
formulation of an agreement that sought to balance the rights and
duties of the State within the exclusive economic zone against
the corresponding rights and duties of other States and of the in-
ternational community.
142. The right of a coastal State to establish an economic zone
and the rights and duties of other States within the zone were
now generally accepted. Articles 69 and 70 were important in
that respect. His delegation hoped that an acceptable solution
could be found to the problem of geographically-disadvantaged
States in regions and subregions poor in living resources.
143. His delegation regretted that agreement had not yet been
reached on the vital and sensitive issue of the delimitation of the



139th meeting—27 August 1980 71

exclusive economic zone or continental shelf between States with
opposite or adjacent coasts. It was, however, encouraging to note
that negotiations among the most interested parties were continu-
ing. His delegation was confident that a generally acceptable
agreement would emerge from such negotiations.
144. While it could accept the coastal State's sovereign rights
over the continental shelf in an area beyond 200 miles in which
the coastal State would share the revenue from its exploitation
with the Authority, his delegation felt that the percentage contri-
bution by coastal States to the Authority could be greater than
that provided for in article 82.
145. Turning to the general provisions relating to the Area and
its resources, the common heritage of mankind and jus cogens,
he said that the single most important development in the general
law of the sea during the current century was indisputably the
1970 United Nations Declaration of Principles (resolution
2749(XXV)), which established that the area beyond national ju-
risdiction constituted the common heritage of mankind. His dele-
gation had three points to make concerning the principle of the
common heritage of mankind: firstly, the 1970 Declaration was
declaratory of general international law; secondly, the principle
of the common heritage of mankind was a rule of customary in-
ternational law; and thirdly, the principle of the common heritage
of mankind constituted jus cogens, i.e. a peremptory norm of
general international law from which no derogation was permit-
ted and which could consequently be modified only by a subse-
quent norm of general international law having the same charac-
ter.
146. It was the task of the Conference to give effect to that im-
portant principle. It was a matter of deep regret to his delegation
that the Conference had not yet been able to state clearly and un-
equivocally that the principle of the common heritage of mankind
constituted jus cogens.
147. The original Chilean proposal on the subject was prefer-
able to the compromise formula which, while merely prohibiting
amendments to article 136, was to become a paragraph of the ar-
ticle on the final clauses on the relationship to other conventions
and international agreements. Under the doctrine of jus cogens,
not only treaties which were in breach of a peremptory norm, but
also unilateral acts which contravened such a norm, were illegal,
null and void. Unilateral action in relation to the Area and its re-
sources was destructive and subversive of the principle of the
common heritage of mankind. It was regrettable that some States
had taken such action, particularly when the Conference was on
the verge of success.
148. The general provision that a State party was not obliged to
supply information the disclosure of which was contrary to the
essential interests of security was open to abuse. His delegation
wished to sound a note of caution in that respect, despite the un-
derstanding (see A/CONF.62./L.58) that the provision was not
intended to detract from the obligations under the present con-
vention concerning the transfer of technology and marine scien-
tific research or the obligations concerning the settlement of dis-
putes relating to those matters. The exclusive reference to those
particular obligations might be interpreted as meaning that the
provision could detract from obligations not mentioned in the un-
derstanding.
149. Although substantial progress had been made at the cur-
rent session, a number of matters remained to be solved and a
number of adjustments would have to be made in order to pre-
serve the delicate balance necessary to maintain the integrity of
the package. There was no perfect solution in the world of com-
promise. If the next session was to succeed, it must be accepted
that the type of negotiations conducted in the past on hard-core
issues could not be perpetuated. The developing countries had
made major concessions in arriving at the compromise package,
and the time had come for the industrialized countries to make a
final gesture.
150. His delegation was confident that the widespread support
for Jamaica as the site of the international sea-bed Authority
would also be expressed in the final communication in the form

of a decision of the Conference, in accordance with the proce-
dure adopted during the first part of the Conference.

Mr. Djalal (Indonesia), Vice-President, took the Chair.
151. Mr. HAHM (Republic of Korea) said, with regard to First
Committee matters, that his delegation welcomed the new com-
promise formula on decision-making procedures in the Council
based on the three-tier voting system, as set out in the proposals
by the co-ordinators of working group 21. He Commended the
spirit of compromise shown by all delegations in achieving a
breakthrough on a problem that was crucial to the success of the
Conference. The consensus method as a working rule applicable
to particularly sensitive issues seemed to offer a reasonable basis
for compromise and balanced the interests of the States and
groups of States concerned. However, safeguard measures must
still be devised in order to ensure that the consensus mechanism
was not used to paralyze the functioning of the Council.
152. His delegation had remained silent during discussions on
the composition of the Council at the current session, hoping that
the negotiations between land-based producer countries and in-
dustrialized countries would be successful. Although the results
of the negotiations failed to give sufficient importance to the in-
terests of developing consumer countries that were heavily de-
pendent on imported mineral resources, his delegation would not
obstruct a consensus on the issue by insisting on that point.
153. His delegation expressed satisfaction with the adjustment
made to article 155, paragraph 4. The addition of the words
"changing or modifying" clarified the scope of the amendment
to the system of exploration and exploitation.
154. As a member of the Group of 77, his delegation attached
great importance to the question of transfer of technology and
shared the Group's view that it should be made compulsory not
only for the operator but also for the supplier of technology, so
that the Enterprise could become a viable entity in every respect.
It was encouraging to note that the new version of annex III, ar-
ticle 5, contained an improved formula which could provide a
basis for consensus.
155. His delegation was in favour of incorporating all the
amendments contained in document A/CONF.62/C. 1/L.28/
Add.l .
156. Turning to Second Committee matters, he said that, in the
light of the impasse on the issue of delimitation of the exclusive
economic zone and continental shelf, his delegation felt that the
formula contained in articles 74 and 83 of the second revision of
the negotiating text was a feasible compromise which could rec-
oncile opposing interests.
157. Another point of vital interest to his delegation was the
question of the passage of warships through the territorial sea.
His country had already enacted a law requiring prior notification
of the passage of foreign warships through its territorial sea be-
cause it considered such a requirement to be consistent with the
innocent passage regime formulated in the second revision. Ar-
ticle 21 entitled the coastal State to make laws and regulations in
conformity not only with the provisions of the convention but
also with other rules of international law.
158. His delegation supported the changes in the final clauses
reflected in document FC/21/Rev. I/Add. 1. He welcomed the fact
that the foot-note had been retained in article 303, making it
clear that acceptance of the article on reservations and exceptions
was conditional upon the adoption of the convention by con-
sensus.
159. His delegation had no objection to the general provisions
in document A/CONF.62/L.58, but wished to place on record the
fact that the provision designed to protect archaeological objects
and objects of historical value should not prejudice the rights of
coastal States to such objects located in the sea-bed and subsoil
of the continental shelf.
160. The second part of the ninth session constituted a water-
shed in the progress towards a successful outcome, and with the
resolution of most of the outstanding issues he looked forward to
the successful conclusion of the Conference in 1981. He hoped
that the pending issues would be resolved in the spirit of compro-



72 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

mise and mutual accommodation which had prevailed during the
current session.
161. Mr. ARIAS SCHREIBER (Peru) said that the proposals
submitted by the First Committee were the result of an effort to
achieve a compromise between interest groups with previously
insoluble differences. His delegation welcomed the fact that both
the veto procedure and weighted voting had been eliminated
from the decision-making procedures in the Council. Although
his delegation would have preferred a two-thirds majority for all
substantive questions, it had proved impossible to find a gener-
ally acceptable formula for the most sensitive items other than
consensus, to which his delegation had objected for practical rea-
sons. He welcomed the reference to recourse to conciliation in
article 161, since it would encourage negotiation and discourage
abuse of the consensus procedure. That procedure appeared ex-
cessive for decisions taken under article 162, paragraph 2 (/),
concerning the protection of the interests of land-based producer
countries. It was his delegation's understanding that it would not
be necessary to have recourse to that paragraph in order to apply
the measures in article 151. Furthermore, while the wording of
articles 150 and 151 was far from ideal, his delegation trusted
that the measures on production control would make it possible
to counter the adverse economic effects for the developing coun-
tries. On the understanding that the new proposals formed part of
an inseparable whole, his delegation supported their inclusion in
the third revision as a better basis for reaching a consensus. The
Conference would have an opportunity at the tenth session to
consider the outstanding issues dealt with by the First Commit-
tee, including the membership of the Council, in the light of the
final clauses. In order to ensure the success of the negotiations,
States must take care to act in good faith, avoiding unilateral
action in the Area, since such action would be invalid and could
lead to a serious confrontation which would be prejudicial to the
interests of mankind as a whole. Neither the Conference nor the
international community would accept a fait accompli.
162. He welcomed the inclusion of an article in the general
provisions prohibiting the use of force or any other action that
was incompatible with the principles of international law incor-
porated in the Charter of the United Nations. However, that gen-
eral provision must be supplemented by others, as had been sug-
gested on many occasions.
163. At the end of the eighth session in New York, his delega-
tion had expressed regret at the lack of a suitable procedure for
negotiations in the Second Committee on certain items on which
consensus had not been reached, such as the passage of warships
in the territorial sea and other provisions concerning the exclu-
sive economic zone and the high seas. Unfortunately, despite re-
quests by several delegations, the situation had not changed at
the current session. There were still problems which must be re-
solved by negotiation or by formal amendments which might be
put to a vote in the Conference. Some delegations seemed to
think that a final solution had been found on issues on which
they themselves had reached agreement and they refused to con-
sider the difficulties expressed by other delegations, as if the lat-
ter had no right to participate in a consensus. Such an approach
was unreasonable and extremely dangerous for the Conference.
164. Where a specific agreement on the delimitation of the
territorial sea, exclusive economic zone and continental shelf be-
tween States with opposite or adjacent coasts did not exist or
where there were no special circumstances or historic rights rec-
ognized by the parties, the median line should as a general rule
be used, as suggested in the second revision, since it was the
most likely method of achieving an equitable solution.
165. His delegation considered that negotiations on matters
dealt with by the Third Committee had ended and that only mi-
nor adjustments were now needed to certain provisions which
were still causing difficulty.
166. The final clauses introduced by the President reflected the
result of a compromise which appeared generally acceptable, but
agreement must be reached on the question of reservations and
exceptions and the participation of bodies which were not States,

including intergovernmental subregional organizations concerned
with matters covered by the convention. There were other ques-
tions outstanding, such as the membership and functions of the
Preparatory Commission, and the work of the Drafting Commit-
tee to harmonize the various language versions of the text and
improve the style, without changing the substance.
167. Sooner or later the Conference would have to consider the
follow-up to its work. The Secretary-General would be requested
to assist the developing countries in strengthening their capacity
to exercise their rights and in fulfilling their obligations under the
future convention. It would also be necessary to co-ordinate the
activities of the competent United Nations agencies and organiza-
tions so as to ensure uniform implementation of the convention
in their work. To those ends, the Conference should recommend
that the General Assembly adopt measures of co-operation and
assistance in accordance with the means available to the United
Nations.
168. His country's new Government would consider the text as
a whole in due course and would express its views on it at the
next session. The negotiating text was not a final version and
was subject to amendment by participating States in accordance
with the rules of procedure of the Conference. His delegation
trusted that the convention would be adopted by consensus, but
that would depend, in the last analysis, on the attitude of other
delegations in seeking a reasonable solution to the few outstand-
ing problems.

Mr. Akinjide (Nigeria), Vice-President, took the Chair.

169. Mr. SAKER (Syrian Arab Republic) welcomed the pro-
gress made during the current session. His delegation had no ob-
jection to articles 160 and 162 on the composition of the Coun-
cil, voting procedures and the powers and functions attributed to
the Council, although Article 162, paragraph 7(c), could have
been made more precise by transferring some of the questions
covered therein to subparagraph (b), thereby ensuring that most
decisions were taken by a two-thirds majority.
170. With regard to article 140 on the sharing of benefits, he
felt that making the benefits accruing to peoples who had not yet
gained full independence dependent on a recommendation by
consensus in the Council would have the effect of paralysing the
activities provided for in that article. The decision should have
been left to the Assembly or be subject to a two-thirds majority.
Article 162, paragraph 2 (j), was part of the comprehensive
package, but his delegation would have preferred plans of action
to be referred to the Council and not to the Legal and Technical
Commission.
171. In his delegation's view the text of paragraph 1 of articles
74 and 83 of the second revision should not be included in the
new revision, because, according to the principles adopted by the
International Court of Justice, the median line would not neces-
sarily provide a just solution.
172. The continental shelf should not be extended too far since
that would reduce the common heritage of mankind. His delega-
tion agreed to a 200-mile limit to the continental shelf but felt
that flexibility should be maintained, provided the payments and
contributions for exploitation of the continental shelf beyond that
l imit were increased. Article 82, paragraph 4, should be
amended to enable peoples who had not yet achieved independ-
ence to benefit from the contributions payable for exploitation
beyond the 200-mile limit.
173. His delegation supported the proposal (C.2/Informal
Meeting/58) for the introduction of a new subparagraph (b) in ar-
ticle 21, paragraph 1, which would make the passage of warships
through the territorial sea subject to prior notice and authoriza-
tion. He was surprised that the current session had not given suf-
ficient attention to that important subject.
174. His delegation had two reservations concerning the final
clauses. First, accession should be open to the national liberation
organizations recognized by the United Nations and regional or-
ganizations if the former organizations were not to be deprived of
their rights under the convention. Secondly, reservations should



139th meeting—27 August 1980 73

be allowed in respect of those articles which had implications for
the sovereignty of States and their vital continental and marine
interests. Paragraph 2 of the transitional arrangements should be
amended to allow non-independent peoples to enjoy their rights.
175. His delegation was adamantly opposed to unilateral legis-
lation concerning the exploration or exploitation of the common
heritage of mankind, and objected to any bilateral arrangements
which might affect the rights of a third party, such as the Wash-
ington agreement and the Camp David agreement, which vio-
lated the rights of Arab States.
176. In his delegation's view, the current text did not give suf-
ficient importance to the geographical, economic and political
disadvantages of certain countries and should be amended ac-
cordingly. Lastly, Annex III , article 5, on the transfer of technol-
ogy did not meet the aspirations of the developing countries. The
transfer of technology should cover all areas of work by the En-
terprise, particularly those involving industrialization.
177. Mr. VERHAEGEN (Belgium) welcomed the progress
made during the current session, but regretted that his delegation
had been unable to participate sufficiently in the consultations,
which had frequently been too restricted.
178. His delegation was concerned about the consequences of
the proposal for the limitation of production in article 150, para-
graph 2 in document A/CONF.62/C.I/L.28/Add.l, because it
might compromise the entire exploration and exploitation system
devised by the Conference over the years. The production control
formula which would benefit only 20 or so countries, both indus-
trialized and developing, of the 160 members of the international
community would make it possible to exploit from 5 to 14 ocean
mine sites during the first 25 years of application of the conven-
tion. Many national Parliaments might be reluctant to ratify a
convention which provided for the creation of a universal inter-
national body if its only task was to organize and control the ac-
tivities of some dozen mine sites, particularly since the financial
contribution required of States in the text were very high.
179. He was pleased to note that the drafting of some subpara-
graphs of article 150 had been improved, but subparagraph (d)
needed further revision. His delegation could not accept the idea
that the production of minerals derived from the Area would
merely supplement land-based production. Both marine and land-
based minerals should be treated on the same footing.
180. His delegation welcomed the fact that agreement had been
reached on the decision-making procedures in the Council as set
out in article 161. However, the membership of the Council must
be amended to make it more representative. The argument ad-
vanced by the medium-sized industrial States was understandable
and their views deserved attention.
181. His delegation had already stated on numerous occasions
that it supported the transfer of technology to the Enterprise un-
der fair marketing conditions, but the articles in annex III on the
subject were not entirely satisfactory. Caution should always be
exercised with regard to financial assessments prior to industrial
investment, in view of the margin of error and industrial and
marketing risks involved. However, Belgian experts had con-
cluded that the companies concerned would be unable to con-
tinue their activities for the exploitation of marine mineral re-
sources if they were subjected to the financial constraints
imposed in annex III, article 13. Perhaps other experts had ar-
rived at more optimistic conclusions, but even if they were right,
the financial obligations to the Authority must not discourage
from that new field of activity serious applicants who had already
proved their technical ability to exploit the sea-bed. The level of
payments to the Authority should be revised taking that point
into account, and the charges referred to in the above-mentioned
article should be reduced.
182. The funding of the Enterprise would be considered as the
price to be paid in order to benefit from the advantages offered
by the convention. His delegation did not wish to commit itself
at the present stage, but it could not agree to the idea that States
should be requested to provide a blank cheque for the financing
of the Enterprise; that was precisely what annex IV, article 11,

proposed, since it did not stipulate the amount of contributions
which States might be called upon to pay to the Enterprise. That
again might cause the national bodies responsible for ratifying
the convention to hesitate. The problem would not be solved by
entrusting the preparatory commission with the job of fixing the
amount since the commission's proposals were subject to ap-
proval by the Council and the Assembly of the Authority. Thus,
since the Council and the Assembly could be established only af-
ter ratification by a sufficiently large number of States, a vicious
circle might be created which could compromise the future of the
convention.
183. His delegation was not against publication of a third revi-
sion of the negotiating text but could not agree that such a text
would be the final text of the convention. The third revision
should still be subject to amendment either during the next nego-
tiating session or through a more formal amendment procedure.
184. In the absence of a clause enabling the European Eco-
nomic Community to become a party to the convention, signa-
ture of the convention by Belgium would not be binding upon his
country in respect of matters within the competence of the Com-
munity.
185. Lastly, his delegation was relying upon the French Lan-
guage Group of the Drafting Committee to produce a satisfactory
French version of the convention.
186. Mr. OMAR (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) said that the spon-
sors of document NG7/10/Rev.2 on the delimitation of maritime
boundaries between States with adjacent or opposite coasts had
indicated that they could not accept the wording of paragraphs 1
of articles 74 and 83 in the second revision, since it was not the
result of negotiations and had not met with the broad support
which might establish the basis for a consensus, as provided for
in document A/CONF.62/62.' Furthermore, most delegations felt
that the text was ambiguous since it used an unusual term,
namely, "circumstances prevailing". Considerable efforts had
been made to achieve a clear formula that would command wider
support. The two interest groups had eventually been able to ini-
tiate useful consultations but they had not yet resulted in the
drafting of a text. In view of the importance of the matter, his
delegation hoped that continued efforts would be made to elimi-
nate the remaining difficulties facing the Conference.
187. He supported the informal proposal in document C.2/
Informal Meeting/58 concerning the inclusion of a new subpara-
graph in article 21, paragraph I, requiring warships to obtain
prior authorization before entering the territorial sea. Such a pro-
vision was important for the security of all States, particularly
smaller States. It had been evident from the general debate that
the proposal was widely supported by the Conference and his
delegation hoped that it would be included in the third revision or
that there would be a further opportunity for negotiation on that
point.
188. His delegation's basic position on the decision-making
procedures in the Council was the same as that expressed by the
Organization of African Unity, namely, it rejected the system of
veto, unanimity or weighted voting. It was not certain that the
voting system set out in article 161, paragraph 7, would be effec-
tive in facilitating the work of the Council. Nineteen items were
subject to a three-fourths majority while only eight were subject
to a two-thirds majority, and his delegation considered that situa-
tion unbalanced. Furthermore, article 161, paragraph 7 (g), had
no governing criteria and its application might lead to arbitrary
decisions since any member of the Council could exaggerate the
majority needed for a specific issue.
189. The provision in annex III, article 5, on the transfer of
technology did not meet the aspirations of the developing coun-
tries in supporting the role of the Enterprise. The text should be
considerably improved and technology must be understood to
cover processing technology as well.
190. Annex IV, article 11, on the financing of the Enterprise

'Ibid., vol. X (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.79.V.4).



74 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

was, in his delegation's view, inequitable. The industrialized
countries, particularly those most advanced in the exploration
and exploitation of the sea-bed beyond the 200-mile limit, should
contribute-a larger share to the financing of the Enterprise. The
present wording of article 76 was prejudicial to the common heri-
tage of mankind and his delegation regretted the negative re-
sponse to the view expressed by the group of Arab States; even
though that view had gained support in the Conference. He en-
dorsed the Iraqi delegation's request that negotiations should be
continued on that subject in the Second Committee. His delega-
tion supported the statement by the Group of 77 denouncing the
unilateral legislation enacted by the United States for the exploi-
tation of the sea-bed beyond its national jurisdiction. The Confer-
ence should, in his delegation's view, issue a statement denounc-
ing any unilateral action which prejudiced the common heritage
of mankind.
191. The participation of the national liberation movements in
the convention was an important issue, and their accession was
considered as an application of the principle of the common heri-
tage of mankind. His delegation hoped that a provision could be
included to that effect in the third revision.
192. In conclusion, although his delegation had expressed
some dissatisfaction with certain aspects of the text, it welcomed
the progress which had already been achieved, and hoped that
the international community would be able to devise a just and
legal regime for the seas which took into account the problems
and aspirations of the developing countries.
193. Mr. CHARRY SAMPER (Colombia) said that his country
was among the developing countries which were attempting to
defend their interests as actual and potential producers of land-
based minerals. Articles 150 and 151 were of fundamental inter-
est to his country, which would begin mass production of nickel
in 1982, and was a potential producer of copper, cobalt and man-
ganese. Colombia would face stiffer competition as a result of
the entry of marine minerals on the market. The developing
countries were dependent to a large extent on investments and
technology from the more developed countries for the exploita-
tion of their mineral resources, but in the future priority would
probably be given by the developed countries to marine nodules.
Obviously, it was difficult to satisfy all States with general for-
mulas, but his delegation had tried to obtain safeguards which
would cover all land-based developing-country producers, such
as the provision on access to markets and limitation of produc-
tion. He felt that an additional clause should be included on ac-
cess to markets to protect land-based developing-country pro-
ducers against discr iminatory economic, commercial and
financial practices. The machinery and provisions to protect and
assist developing countries in connexion with the adverse eco-
nomic effects of marine production should be improved and im-
plemented, particularly with regard to certain African countries
such as Zambia, Zaire, Zimbabwe and Gabon, and the interests
of the small and medium-sized countries in Latin America and
Asia should also be taken into account. It was his delegation's
understanding that decisions taken under article 162, paragraph
2 (/), concerned the protection of developing countries against
the adverse economic effects referred to in article 151. Such de-
cisions should be taken by a two-thirds majority in the Council
so that there would be no doubt that it was the Assembly which
would decide on the system of compensation referred to in article
151, paragraph 4.
194. His delegation considered that one of the most positive as-
pects of the package was the inclusion of States which were po-
tential producers of the minerals to be derived from the area un-
der Article 161, paragraph 1 (d), so that they could defend their
interests in respect of marine and sea-bed mining.
195. He would have preferred a voting system for the Council
based on a prescribed majority rather than the system adopted,
which was as yet untried and on which the fate of the institutions
established would depend. Rotation of the members of the Coun-
cil should be guaranteed by pragmatic arrangements within the
various groups. Having made those clarifications, his delegation

was prepared to endorse inclusion in the third revision of the
package negotiated by the First Committee.
196. The various texts from the Second Committee appeared to
be balanced and it would be dangerous to reopen discussions on
issues on which consensus had been reached following very diffi-
cult negotiations. If some issues were raised again, Colombia
would in turn have to insist on various points on which, in its
view, an entirely satisfactory solution had not-been found. It
would therefore be preferable not to reopen the discussion in or-
der to maintain the balance achieved.

197. With regard to the Third Committee, his delegation wel-
comed the results obtained on Parts XII, XIII and XIV, which
offered better responsibilities for consensus. However, several of
the provisions of the new text should be harmonized, for example
the foot-note to article 254 should be brought into line with ar-
ticles 69 and 70, and articles 264, 265 and 296.

198. At the eighth session his delegation had expressed support
for the inclusion in the second revision of the proposals of the
Chairman of negotiating group 7 on criteria for delimitation, in-
terim measures and the settlement of disputes. During the current
session, his delegation had played an active part in the discus-
sions and contacts with the delegations most concerned and had
concluded that the current text was the most likely to lead to a
consensus, particularly since the reference to international law in
the heading was a meeting-point for opposing views. It could not
be said that there were two clearly defined camps, those for a
new order and those against. International law covered the rules,
principles, customs and practices of States which had evolved
gradually and the convention must reflect that fact. The recent
discussions among the 20 countries most concerned had brought
out various points that were important to his delegation. The in-
clusion of the so-called equitable principles gave rise to problems
and there was no consensus on that definition and no provision
was made for a third party to settle any dispute. In stipulating
that delimitation must be achieved through agreement between
the parties rather than a compulsory solution, the text left the
parties to their own devices, and their subjective interpretation of
a just solution might well lead to a further dispute.
199. Without an arbitrator or binding decisions by a third
party, the application of equitable principles to delimitation
might lead to solutions that were far from just. His delegation
felt that the current text should be maintained since there was no
justification for its amendment and no other valid proposal had
resulted from the negotiations. His delegation had made every ef-
fort to improve the text on two conditions, firstly, that the three
elements—delimitation criteria, interim measures and settlement
of disputes—should continue to be considered as a package; and
secondly, that a serious effort should be made to produce a clear
and balanced text, bearing in mind that revision 2 represented not
the position of a group of countries which defended the principle
of the median or equidistance line, but a compromise reached
with the participation of all States, including neutral countries or
countries not directly involved. A compromise aimed at securing
another consensus could be acheived through negotiations based
on the second revision, but there could be no bargaining on the
compromise thus reached, which should be maintained in the
third revision.

200. His delegation would support the incorporation of the gen-
eral clauses and final clauses; it had expressed its views during
the discussion of those clauses and, depending on the text which
appeared in the third revision, some aspects might require further
discussion in the plenary Conference. He referred in particular to
an improved formula for compulsory recourse to conciliation
within the delimitation package. His delegation found the current
wording of the clause on reservations acceptable; limited reserva-
tions should be allowed in respect of specific articles and his del-
egation agreed with the statement in document A/CONF.62/L.60
that it should be clearly understood that article 303 did not per-
mit exceptions by any State party to optional exceptions made by
any other State party under article 298, paragraph 1 (a), and that



140th meeting—27 August 1980 75

that text did not permit of reservations to exceptions or excep- regional groups under two conditions: firstly, that they did not
tions to reservations. prejudice the purpose of the convention: and secondly that no
201. Lastly, the convention should include a generic text au- special advantages contrary to the provisions of the convention
thorizing the participation of bodies such as the European Eco- were created for them or anv of their member States,
nomic Community, the Andean Group and any existing or future The meeting rose at 1.10 p.m.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


